2006

Kristi Pace, individually, and for and on behalf of  
the Estate of William Matthew Pace and all heirs of  
the estate v. St. George City Police Dept., City of St.  
George, and John Does 1 through 10 : Brief of  
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction before this court is proper pursuant to the Appellate Jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals over the decisions of the trial court of the State of Utah. Const. Art. 8, § 1; U.C.A.1953, 78-2a-1; *Renn v. Utah State Bd. of Pardons*, 1995, 904 P.2d 677; U.C.A.1953, 78-2a-1.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

Appellant asserts that the service of the Notice of Claim by prior counsel for the Appellant was proper pursuant to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401. As such, Plaintiffs/Appellants maintain that the Trial Court improperly dismissed this suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs/Appellants assert that the governmental entities waived their sovereign immunity, pursuant to U.C.A. § 63-30-10(10) (2003), and that the sovereign immunity of the State was not maintained due to an alleged “incarceration” of the decedent at the time of the incident.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Reviewed for correctness without any deference to the trial court’s determination of law. *Gurule v. Salt Lake County*, 69 P.3d 1287, 474 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 2003 UT 25 (Utah, 2003).

### **CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

1. U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401.
2. U.C.A. 1953, § 63-30-11.
3. U.C.A. 1953, § 63-30-10.
4. U.C.A.1953, 63-30-11.
5. U.C.A.1953, 78-2a-1.
6. Const. Art. 8, § 1; U.C.A.1953, 78-2a-1.
7. Rules Civ.Proc., Rule 12(b)(6).

### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

The Utah Legislative changes to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act went into effect July 1, 2004.

Appellant's Notice of Claim was filed July 2, 2004, upon "City of St. George, 175 East 200 North, St. George, Utah 84770," by Appellant's prior counsel, Braunberger, Boud & Draper, P.C. There was no "City Clerk" within the City of St. George that could be served. The City Recorder is Gay Cragun, who works for the City of St. George located at the same address.

Suit was filed in the Fifth Judicial District Court and service of Summons and Complaint was effectuated March 4<sup>th</sup>, 2005, and was served upon Gay Cragun at the same address listed above.

Defendants/Appellees filed a Motion to Dismiss July 11<sup>th</sup>, 2005, alleging improper filing of the Notice of Claim by Plaintiffs/Appellants' prior counsel, Braunberger, Boud & Draper, P.C. After the filing of several responsive memorandum by both sides, the

Court issued the Defendants/Appellees' Order of Dismissal Without Prejudice, of the Plaintiffs/Appellants' lawsuit on January 18, 2006. The Defendants/Appellees' grounds for dismissal were (1) lack of subject matter jurisdiction due to an improper filing of the Notice of Claim, and (2) because the governmental entities had not waived their sovereign immunity surrounding actions with regard to the "incarceration" of William Matthew Pace.

From this order, Plaintiffs/Appellants respectfully appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

William Matthew Pace was arrested March 13, 2004 for theft. William Matthew Pace was wearing a prosthetic back brace at the time of his arrest and was searched by the arresting officers. Such search failed to produce the 9mm pistol that Mr. Pace had, on his person, underneath the back brace. While in custody, prior to the filing of any formal charges, and before interrogations were completed, William Matthew Pace was excused to use the restroom and his restraints were removed. While in the restroom, William Matthew Pace produced the 9mm pistol and fatally shot himself.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. Plaintiffs/Appellants' Notice of Claim was in strict compliance with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act pursuant to U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401
2. Defendants/Appellees may not argue that the Notice of Claim was improperly served due to their failure to properly update their website with the Department of Commerce designating a City Clerk that is to receive service of the Notice of Claim. U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401(7).

3. Sovereign Immunity is waived in the foregoing matter due to the nature of the claims pursuant to U.C.A. 1953 § 63d-30d-301(3)(a)(4).

4. Matthew William Pace was not “incarcerated” for the purposes of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and “detainment” is distinguishable from the precedent in Utah that has considered “confinement” to be post-conviction. *Ross v. Schackel*, 920 P.2d 1159 (Utah 1996); *Kirk v. State*, 784 P.2d 1255 (Ut. Ct. pp. 1989); *Lancaster v. Utah State Prison*, 740 P.2d 261 (Utah 1987).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. Filing of the Notice of Claim was strictly compliant with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.**

Dismissal of a case under the Governmental Immunity Act is reviewed for correctness without deference to the trial court's determination of law, as a complaint for failure to properly file a notice of claim is a conclusion of law. *Gurule v. Salt Lake County*, 2003, 69 P.3d 1287, 474 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 2003 UT 25; *Larson v. Park City Mun. Corp.*, 955 P.2d 343, 339 Utah Adv. Rep. 17 (1998); Rules Civ.Proc., Rule 12(b)(6). .

First and foremost, the Utah Legislature has provided a procedural protective wall around its governmental entities in the form of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. This act represents one of only a few States that require strict compliance with the Notices of Claim filed against governmental entities. *Johnson v. City of Bountiful*, 1998, 996 F.Supp. 1100 (D. Utah 1998).

Furthermore, the strictness with which strict compliance rule applies varies, and ambiguity in the statute allows for a relaxation of the strictness of the standard. *Gurule v. Salt Lake County*, 69 P.3d 1287, 474 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 2003 UT 25 (2003). In another example, a District Court was found to have subject matter jurisdiction over a teacher's claim under the Utah's Whistleblower Act against the superintendent in her official capacity, where the teacher served a notice of claim on the district but not on the superintendent. U.C.A. 1953, § 63-30-11(1). *Youren v. Tintic School Dist.*, 343 F.3d 1296 (10th Cir. 2003).

The essence of the dismissal in the case at hand is that the Notice of Claim was not strictly compliant with Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(A) (2003). This divested the Court of Subject Matter Jurisdiction in the foregoing matter, and as such, resulted in the non-prejudicial dismissal of suit, stating that the Utah and its political subdivisions had retained their governmental immunity under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(10) (2003).

The Order Granting Dismissal is bifurcated into two separate issues. The first is that the Notice of Claim was not filed properly pursuant to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, as required under U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401. The second interwoven issue is that as such, Utah did not waive her sovereign immunity with respect to an issue of incarceration. *See* U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30-10(10).

The service of the Notice of Claim necessary to establish Subject Matter Jurisdiction, was mailed to the address 175 East 200 North, St. George, UT 84770. The relevant Statute, which was in force at the time of the filing (which is the applicable version of the Statute pursuant to *Goeble v. Salt Lake City S. R.R. Co.*, 2004 UT 80 §§

38-40, 104 P.3d 1185), requires the Notice of Claim to be “delivered by hand or by mail . . . to the office of . . . the city or town clerk.” U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401.

Alternatively, if the City Recorder, Gay Cragun, (albeit not the Statutory “City Clerk” due to the City’s failure to appoint such a position), is the proper individual upon whom the service of the Notice of Claim was to be directed and delivered, there is no statutory definition of “directed and delivered” within the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. The term “directed” ambiguously could refer to the name of the individual, the office, the name of the department, or the address of the individual prescribed under the Statute. By addressing the Notice of Claim to the proper address of the City Recorder, to which it was then delivered, the Notice of Claim was in fact “directed and delivered” pursuant to the Statute. The naming of the entity, “The City of St. George,” on the Notice of Claim does not refute the proper direction of the postal delivery. Considering the failure of the City of St. George to designate a City Clerk, *any* addressed recipient at that address, including Gay Cragun, would only be a substitute for the non-existent position of City Clerk. The Statute itself states that it is the address to which Notices of Claim are “directed and delivered” under §§ 5(a)(iii). U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401. The statutory language is clear that the office or agent is only a designation upon the letter, but it is the addresses, *not the recipients*, which must be receiving proper direction and delivery. As such, Braunberger, Boud & Draper technically “directed and delivered” the Notice of Claim properly, as it is the address that requires proper designation, whereas the position of the person for whom the letter is either statutorily fungible, (or non-existent in the City of St. George). There is no case law which supports or refutes the

address, versus the name, as being proper for the Notice of Claim under the Statute to be satisfied as “directed and delivered.”

The City of St. George had not yet updated their file with the Department of Commerce properly designating the Statutory individual to receive a Notice of Claim. Furthermore, they still have not updated the file to designate a proper City Clerk upon whom service could be proper under §§(3)(b)(a). The legislation had changed only the day before, and Defense has yet to provide evidence to the contrary. As such, if the dispute is documentary in nature, the matter must proceed to trial to determine the merits of the dispute after only a prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction. *Kamdar & Co. v. Laray Co., Inc.*, 815 P.2d 245 (Utah App. 1991). As a result of the neglect by the City of St. George in designating the proper recipient, the language of *Shafer* is controlling, stating that, “in the absence of specific delineation by the statutory recipient of the notice, the notice may be properly served upon any of the addresses through which service could be delivered.” *Shafer v. State*, 79 P.3d 936 (Utah 2003).

**II. Defendants may not argue that Notice of Claim was improperly served due to their failure to properly update the website with the Department of Commerce designating a City Clerk that is to receive service of the Notice of Claim. U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401(7).**

At the time of the service of the Notice of Claim, the City of St. George *had no City Clerk*. There is still no one with that title within the City of St. George pursuant to the statement of Helen Wray, a receptionist with the City of St. George as of June 27, 2006. There was a City recorder, Gay Cragun, upon whom Appellant properly served the Complaint and Summons, and her address is the same as the address to which the Notice

of Claim was sent, 175 East 200 North, St. George, UT 84770. The suit was against the City of St. George, who has not properly designated a City Clerk who could lawfully receive service of the Notice of Claim pursuant to the Statute. The Amendment noted by Defendants/Appellees changing the Statute requiring service upon the City Clerk was enacted within 1 week of the service of the Notice of Claim by Plaintiffs/Appellants' prior counsel, Braunberger, Boud & Draper. The City failed to designate the proper individual to receive Notice of Claim which statutorily warrants the preclusion of their current assertion that the Notice was not properly served. The Defendants/Appellees failed to update the statement required under §§7. That provision reads, "(7) A governmental entity may not challenge the validity of a notice of claim on the grounds that it was not directed and delivered to the proper office or agent if the error is caused by the governmental entity's failure to file or update the statement required by Subsection (5)." U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-401(7).

The twofold legislative motivation in enacting the standards of Notice of Claim requirements is highlighted in *Busch v. Salt Lake Intern. Airport*, 921 P.2d 470 (Utah 1996). Those motives are, first, a prerogative granted to public authorities allowing "an opportunity to investigate, settle, or deny a claim without expending public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation." Secondly, the legislation "provides an opportunity to those vested with authority to remedy a dangerous condition so that further damage or injury can be avoided."

In light of the foregoing, how can it possibly be conceived that the legislative intent, although requiring strict compliance, was not met? In considering the roots of

strict compliance with Notice of Claim requirements, the circumstances of serving the Notice of Claim of this case are in direct alignment with what the Utah legislature intended to be effectuated through a Notice of Claim. In one of the first cases to address the issue, service upon the mayor of the city with notice of an assignment of money payable by the city to the assignor constituted notice to the city and was binding upon it. *Cooper v. Holder*, 21 Utah 2d 40, 440 P.2d 15 (1968). U.C.A.1953, 10-6-3, 10-6-5, 10-6-9, 10-6-23, 10-6-24, 10-7-77, 10-10-61.

In the case at bar, ample notice was given, in strict compliance with the Statutory parameter abiding by the requirements that have become the storm shelter for governmental agencies wishing to avoid lawful service. Through failure to update the system, they have claimed the true authorized recipient did not receive a proper Notice of Claim, and have delayed the remedy of a properly presented Plaintiff for over a year. It is the legislature's ambiguity that has presented the confusion in what "directed and delivered" means, whether a naming of the individual and office is necessary, or whether a proper address gives sufficient direction for delivery. Such an ambiguity should be interpreted to favor legislative intent, which has already been satisfied in the foregoing instance, and mandates a relaxation of the strict compliance standards. *Gurule v. Salt Lake County*, 69 P.3d 1287, 474 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 2003 UT 25 (2003).

**III. Sovereign Immunity is waived in the foregoing matter due to the nature of the claims pursuant to U.C.A. 1953 § 63d-30d-301(3)(a)(4).**

The Court has pointed to the government's failure to waive its sovereign immunity in the foregoing matter due to the "incarceration" of the decedent. Assuming *arguendo*

that the Notice of Claim was properly served, it is the nature of the claim that waives sovereign immunity of the governmental entity. Defendants/Appellees state that “the ACT stated to whom the Notice of Claim was to be sent.” This is entirely misleading, as the website only lists a “City Recorder” which is not mentioned as compliant with the U.G.I.A. requirements. The City still has not designated a City Clerk upon whom service could be proper under the Statute. The legislation had changed within the last week prior to the filing of the Notice of Claim by Plaintiffs/Appellants’ prior Counsel, and the City of St. George had not as yet updated the listing with the Utah Department of Commerce.

Furthermore, “(i)mmunity from suit of each governmental entity is waived as to any injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of employment.” U.C.A. 1953 § 63d-30d-301(3)(a)(4). Defendants/Appellees’ claims that immunity is retained because client was “incarcerated” are inaccurate, as our client was not yet formally arraigned, convicted, or placed in a detention facility. At the time of the negligent act of the governmental employee, he was merely a pre-trial detainee and not incarcerated for the purposes of *Madsen v. State*, 583 P.2d 92 (Utah 1978). The Statute is not contemplating pre-trial detainment, but rather, post-sentencing confinement. Governmental immunity is not waived in connection with “(j) the incarceration of any person in any state prison, county or city jail, or other place of legal confinement.” *Id.* at (5)(j). Were the interpretation of the Defendants to be upheld, governmental actors could arbitrarily detain any citizen, on meritless grounds, and abuse them in any way conceivable, and the form of relief available would be the cumbersome venue of sec. 1983 claims. It could not have been

the legislative intent of the U.G.I.A. to foreclose all state claims for recovery by Plaintiffs injured by the government before charges have even been filed.( For a more complete rendition of the structure of civil claims against governmental entities, see Civil Actions Against State and Local Government § 3:16, Police and Fire Protection; Civil Actions Against State and Local Government § 3:17, Operation of Prisons.)

**IV. The Decedent was not “incarcerated” for the purposes of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and “detainment” is distinguishable from the precedent in Utah that has considered “confinement” to be post-conviction.**

Incarceration, as it has been considered in every case considered within the annotations of the pertinent statute, has only extended to those who have been convicted and sentenced. See U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-301 Annotations. *Ross v. Schackel*, 920 P.2d 1159 (Utah 1996); *Kirk v. State*, 784 P.2d 1255 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989); *Lancaster v. Utah State Prison*, 740 P.2d 261 (Utah 1987), *Lancaster v. Utah State Prison*, 740 P.2d 261 (1987); *Sheffield v. Turner*, 21 Utah 2d 314, 445 P.2d 367 (1968). The immunity for a governmental entity only extends inasmuch as the claim is for “recovery for injury arising out of incarceration of person in state prison or other place of legal confinement.” U.C.A. 1953 § 63-30d-301. Legal confinement contemplates a post-conviction akin to state prison under the statutory language. It does not mention places of pre-trial detention, nor has any Utah case considered pre-trial detention as an extension of the already-broad immunity held by governmental entities.

The question on the horizon of this Appeal of whether or not the action by the employees of the Defendants/Appellees were discretionary such that the governmental

immunity could properly be invoked. To ascertain whether policy-making decision by governmental entity was "discretionary," and thus not subject to governmental immunity, the court must consider whether act involves basic governmental policy, programs, or objectives, and whether the acts or omissions are essential to a realization of policy. Also, it must be determined whether the act or omission required the exercise of basic policy evaluation and expertise, and whether government agency involved possessed required the constitutional, statutory, or lawful authority and duty to negligently perform the search on William Matthew Pace. U.C.A.1953, 63-30-10(1). *Adamson v. City of Provo*, 819 F.Supp. 934 (Utah 1993). (It must also be remembered that the determination of whether a governmental entity exercised a discretionary function, such that entity is entitled to governmental immunity, is a fact-intensive inquiry that, by its very nature, is not particularly amenable to summary judgment. U.C.A.1953, 63-30-10(1). *Sandberg v. Lehman, Jensen & Donahue, L.C.*, 76 P.3d 699, 478 Utah Adv. Rep. 29, 2003 UT App 272 (2003)). However, these are decisions that are not being considered within the scope of this appeal.

### **CONCLUSION**