2006

Kristie Pace individually and for and on behalf of
the Estate of William Matthew Pace and all heirs of
the estate v. St. George City Police Department,
City of St. George, John Does 1 through 10 : Brief
of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This is a wrongful death case arising out of the suicide of William Matthew Pace.

On March 15, 2004, while in custody at the St. George Police Department - Jail, Pace shot himself with a pistol concealed upon his person. Arresting officers had failed to detect the weapon. Plaintiffs claim that the arresting officers owed a duty to Pace to search for and discover that weapon and that the alleged breach of this duty resulted in Pace's death.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE RE: COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiffs commenced this action on March 3, 2005, with the filing of their *Complaint*. (*Complaint* R. 1.) The *Complaint* was served upon Gay Cragun, the St. George City Recorder. (*Return* R. 10-11.) St. George City does not have a town or city clerk.

St. George Defendants answered raising as affirmative defenses *sovereign immunity* and Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the provisions of the *UGIA*, including but not limited to §§ 63-30-4(3)(b), 63-30-4(4), 63-30-10(1), (2), (4), (5) and 10, 63-30-16 and 63-30-34 (2003). St. George Defendants also raised as an affirmative defense the lack of subject matter jurisdiction due to Plaintiff's improper filing/service of their *Notice of Claim*. (*Answer*, R. 41-42.)

On July 13, 2005, St. George Defendants moved to dismiss pursuant to *Utah R. Civ. P.* 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). The *Motion* was based upon a lack of subject matter jurisdiction and the *sovereign immunity* retained under the *UGIA* for injury arising out of the incarceration of any person and/or an inadequate or negligent inspection. (*Combined Motion to Dismiss*, R. 85.)

Plaintiffs filed a *Memorandum in Opposition* to that *Motion to Dismiss*. (*Opposition Memorandum* R. 98.) St. George Defendants filed a *Reply Memorandum* in

support of their *Motion to Dismiss* on August 10, 2005. (*Reply Memorandum*, R. 130.) Thereafter, Plaintiffs filed a *Supplemental Memorandum* in opposition to the *Motion to Dismiss*. (*Supplemental Memorandum* R. 144.)

The *Motion to Dismiss* came on for a regularly scheduled hearing on November 1, 2005 before the Honorable James L. Schumate. On January 18, 2006, the Court entered its *Order* granting St. George Defendants' *Motion to Dismiss* without prejudice. The Court granted that *Motion* based upon a lack of subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' claims due to their failure to comply with the requirements for proper service of a *Notice of Claim* and because this matter arose out of the incarceration of William Matthew Pace for which the State of Utah and its political subdivisions retain governmental immunity. The Court did not address St. George Defendants' argument that immunity had not been waived for injuries arising out of an inadequate or negligent inspection. (*Order*, R. 171.) Plaintiffs appealed on February 14, 2006. (LR.175.)

VIII.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 13, 2004, William Matthew Pace was arrested for theft. (*Complaint*, ¶¶ 7 and 8, R. 2). While at the St. George Police Department-Jail, Pace stated that he needed to use the restroom. Officers removed the handcuffs from Pace's right wrist and escorted

him to the restroom. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 11, 12, and 13, R. 2-3.) In the restroom, Pace drew a 9mm Glock pistol and shot himself in the head. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 20-26, R. 2)

The pistol Pace used to kill himself was hidden beneath a back brace he was wearing at the time. Plaintiffs allege that St. George City officers were negligent in failing to properly pat down Pace or to check under the back brace for the weapon. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 20-26, R. 3-4) Plaintiffs specifically allege that St. George Defendants “owed a duty to William Matthew Pace to safeguard him and protect him while he was in their custody.” (*Id.* at ¶ 36, R. 6.)

In accordance with the *GLAU*, specifically, § 63-30d(401)(5), the City of St. George designated City Recorder Gay Cragun as the person *Notices of Claims* were to be directed to and delivered at the St. George City Hall, 175 East 200 North, St. George, Utah 84770. The registration also included an e-mail address for Cragun as well as her facsimile and telephone numbers. That registration took place on June 6, 2005. A certified copy of the Utah Department of Commerce, Division of Corporations and Commercial Codes, Registration of Recorder Gay Cragun as St. George, Utah’s designated agent for service is included in the *Addendum* to this brief.

On July 2, 2004, Plaintiffs’ served a *Notice of Claim*. Plaintiffs did not, however, direct that *Notice of Claim* to or serve that *Notice of Claim* upon the St. George, Utah City Recorder Gay Cragun as required by *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(A) (2003) or §

63-30d-401(3)(b)(ii)(A). Instead, the *Notice of Claim* was directed to and served upon St. George Police Department, City of St. George, Mayor Daniel McArthur, and Council Members Suzanne Allen, Larry Gardner, Rodney Orton, and Robert Whatcott at the City Hall in St. George, Utah. A copy of that *Notice of Claim* is included in the *Addendum* to this brief.

For the first time on appeal, Plaintiffs contend that St. George Defendants cannot argue that the *Notice of Claim* was improperly served due to St. George Defendants' alleged failure to properly update their website with the Department of Commerce designating a City Clerk or other person to receive service of that *Notice of Claim*. Plaintiffs did not, however, raise that argument before the District Court, nor could they have raised such an argument since St. George Defendants fully complied with the requirements of *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30(d)-401(5).

IX.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On June 6, 2005, St. George Defendants designated City Recorder Gay Cragun as their agent for service of *Notices of Claim* pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30d-401(5). Almost one month later, Plaintiffs directed and delivered their *Notice of Claim* to the Mayor of St. George, Utah, the St. George Police Department and to each member of the St. George City Council. Plaintiff's failure to properly serve their *Notice of Claim* upon

Recorder Gay Cragun, deprived the District Court of subject matter jurisdiction. Although Plaintiffs contend that St. George Defendants are statutorily estopped from asserting their defective service of the *Notice of Claim* as a defense because of noncompliance with the designation/registration requirements of the *GIAU*, Plaintiffs never raised that argument before the District Court. More importantly, St. George Defendants complied with their statutorily mandated designation/registration requirements of the *GIAU*. Specifically, the City of St. George, Utah designated Recorder Gay Cragun as its agent for service. That designation was completed on June 6, 2005, almost a month prior to the service of Plaintiffs' *Notice of Claim*. Additionally, because Plaintiffs' claim arises out of the incarceration of William Matthew Pace, St. George Defendants enjoy immunity pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* §§ 63-3010(10) and 63-30d-301(5)(j).

This Court is free to affirm the District Court on any legal ground or theory that is apparent on the record. In the instant case, additional grounds for affirm and would consist of the immunity afforded St. George Defendants for having been engaged in a governmental function and/or resulting from an inadequate or negligent inspection as well as the lack of any duty owed to Plaintiffs or William Matthew Pace.

X.

**PLAINTIFFS' FAILURE TO PROPERLY SERVE THE NOTICE OF
CLAIM IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UGIA AND/OR GIAU DEPRIVED THE
DISTRICT COURT OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION**

“A court must have subject matter jurisdiction to have power and authority to decide a controversy. Without subject matter jurisdiction, a court cannot proceed.” *Burns Chiropractic Clinic v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 851 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah App. 1993). Utah law requires strict compliance with the *Notice of Claim* provision of the UGIA and GIAU. *See Bischel v. Merritt*, 907 P.2d 275, 279 (Utah App. 1995); *Goebel*, 2004 UT. 80 ¶¶ 38-40, 104 P.3d 1185. More importantly, the burden of establishing subject matter jurisdiction is on the party asserting jurisdiction. *See Basso v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 495 F.2d 906, 909 (10th Cir. 1974). And this, Plaintiffs have not done.

As stated in *Nielson v. Gurley*, 888 P.2d 130, 134 (Utah App. 1994), a Plaintiff's “failure to comply with the *Notice* requirement of the *Utah Governmental Immunity Act* deprives the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction, and therefore compliance with the *Act* is a precondition to maintaining an action.” Simply put, a claim against a political subdivision of the State of Utah, such as St. George Defendants, “**is barred unless *Notice of Claim* is filed with the governing body of the political subdivision within one year after the claim arises**” *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30-13. *See also Busch v. Salt Lake International Airport*, 921 P.2d 470, 471 (Utah 1996); *Scarborough v. Granite School*

District, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975)(“we have consistently held that where a cause of action is based upon a statute, full compliance with this requirement is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit”). As previously noted, the *GIAU* contains a similar provision codified at *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30d-402.

Both the *UGIA* and *GIAU* specify the form in which the *Notice of Claim* must be presented and to whom the claim must be delivered. When the claim is asserted against an incorporated city or town, the *UGIA* required that “[t]he *Notice of Claim* [against a city] shall be . . . directed and delivered to the City or Town Recorder . . .” *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(A) (emphasis added). When the claim is asserted against an incorporated city or town, the *GIAU* requires that the claim be directed and delivered to the city or town clerk or “the agent authorized” to receive the *Notice of Claim* in the statement filed with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code within the Department of Commerce. *Utah Code Ann.* §§ 63-30d-401(3)(b)(A)(ii)(A) and (G).

As the Court will note from Plaintiffs’ *Notice of Claim*, they did not serve Gay Cragun the St. George City “Recorder,” with their *Notice of Claim* and that is fatal to this action because Utah case law mandates strict compliance with this *Notice* requirement, even if the governmental entity has actual notice of the claim. In *Green v. Utah Transit Authority*, 201 UT 109, 37 P.3d 1156 (Utah 2001), for example, a passenger sued UTA to recover for injuries while boarding a bus. The Plaintiff in that action delivered her *Notice*

of Claim to UTA's claim adjustor. However, under the *UGIA*, a *Notice of Claim* had to be directed and delivered to UTA's President or Secretary of the Board. The *Green* Court noted that the actual knowledge of the existence of the claim by a governmental entity does not excuse a claimant's strict compliance with the requirements of the *UGIA*. *Id.* at 1159.

Although the UTA had actual knowledge of the claim in *Green*, the Utah Supreme Court ruled that the Plaintiff had failed to strictly comply with the *UGIA* notice requirements and that this failure deprived the District Court of subject matter jurisdiction to hear the claim. *See also Brown v. Utah Transit Authority*, 40 P.3d 638 (Utah 2002)(holding that mailing of a *Notice of Claim* to UTA, rather than to UTA's governing board, was insufficient to comply with the statutory notice requirement); *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 40 P.3d 632 (Utah 2002)(holding the failure to strictly comply with the *UGIA*'s notice requirement deprives the District Court of jurisdiction). Plaintiffs' *Notice of Claim* having been similarly improperly directed and delivered, the District Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs respond by arguing (1) that since neither the *UGIA* nor *GIAU* defines "directed and delivered," the term "directed" could refer to the name of the individual, the office, the name of the Department or the address of the individual described in this *Act*, thus the *Notice of Claim* was properly served since it was delivered to the physical address

of the City Recorder, which was City Hall;² (2) that since the City of St. George did not have a City Clerk, the *Notice of Claim* could be properly served by mailing it to City Hall and that for having failed to comply with the registration requirements of § 63-30d-401(5), St. George Defendants are statutorily precluded from asserting improper service of the *Notice of Claim*; and (3) that Plaintiffs' service of their *Notice of Claim* was effective since it was sufficient to meet the policy considerations behind both the *UGIA* and the *GIAU*. Plaintiffs' arguments, however, are unavailing.

Plaintiffs' assertion that if it is unclear to whom a *Notice of Claim* should be sent, the *Notice* may be sent to any address associated with the designated statutory recipients is contrary to existing case law. In support of this argument, Plaintiffs cite companion cases *Wills v. Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority*, 2003 UT 45, 79 P.3d 934, and *Shafer v. State*, 79 P.3d 936 (Utah 2003), which each focused upon the *UGIA*'s "silen[ce] . . . on the matter of *where* a notice of claim must be directed and delivered." *Wills*, 2003 UT 45 at ¶ 4 (emphasis in original); *see also Shafer*, 79 P.3d at 937. In both *Wills* and *Shaeffer*, the Utah Supreme Court held that when the *Notice of Claim* is directed to the statutorily designated recipient, unless otherwise specified, service is effective upon mailing to any one of his or her offices in the event the recipient has more than one office. Plaintiffs' reliance

² Of course, Plaintiffs ignore the fact that many people and subdivisions of city government likewise occupy City Hall.

on *Wills* and *Shafer* is, therefore, inapposite here because (1) the *UGIA* and *GIAU* both stated the person to whom the *Notice of Claim* was to be sent and (2) the deficiency with Plaintiffs' *Notice of Claim* is not with the address to which it was sent. Rather, the *Notice of Claim* is deficient because it was not "directed" to the St. George City Recorder as required by both the *UGIA* and *GIAU*.

Plaintiffs' second assertion – that since the City of St. George did not have a city clerk, and had not designated an agent for service, the *Notice of Claim* could be served upon anyone at City Hall - is equally flawed. It is flawed because (1) Plaintiffs were required to strictly comply with the service requirements and (2) more importantly, City Recorder Gay Cragun had been formerly designated as the agent upon whom *Notices of Claim* were to be served.

As to the argument that St. George Defendants are precluded from challenging the validity of the *Notice of Claim* having not been directed to deliver to the City Recorder for failure to comply with the registration requirements of § 63-30d-401(5), that argument fails for two reasons. First, as previously shown, on June 6, 2005, in compliance with the *GIAU*, the City of St. George, Utah designated City Recorder Gay Cragun as the person upon whom *Notices of Claim* were to be directed and delivered. Thus, there is no factual basis for this argument. Second, Plaintiffs never raised this argument before the District Court.

Not having done so, it cannot be raised by Plaintiffs for the first time on appeal. *State of Utah v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 359 (Utah App. 1993).

Finally, Plaintiffs quote *Busch v. Salt Lake Int’l Airport*, 921 P.2d 470, 472 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), wherein the court explains the “two important purposes” for the *Governmental Immunity Act*, codified at *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30d-402 (which are allowing public authorities an opportunity to investigate, settle or deny a claim without expending public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation, and providing an opportunity to those vested with authority to remedy a dangerous condition so that further damage or injury can be avoided) and then argues that their service of the *Notice of Claim* is effective since it fulfilled these two purposes. Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ argument to the contrary, the Utah Supreme Court has held repeatedly that the *Notice of Claim* requirements must be strictly complied with. *See, e.g., Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 11, 40 P.3d 632; *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 19, 977 P.2d 1201. In fact, in *Goebel v. Salt Lake City Southern Railroad Company*, 2004 UT 80, 104 P.3d 1185, the Utah Supreme Court held that although the plaintiffs filed their *Notice of Claim* with the mayor and city council, the trial court lacked jurisdiction because the *Notice of Claim* had not been “directed” to “the city or town recorder.” *Id.* at ¶ 38 (quoting *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(A) (Supp. 2003)) (emphasis in original); *see id.* at ¶¶ 36-40. Likewise here, although Plaintiffs’ directed their *Notice of Claim* to the St. George City Mayor and City Council, they did not

direct it to the City Recorder. Thus, their *Notice of Claim* was not in strict compliance with the notice requirements of the *Act*, and the District Court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' *Complaint*.

XI.

ST. GEORGE DEFENDANTS ARE ALSO IMMUNE FROM SUIT UNDER THE *UGIA*

The *UGIA* and *GIAU* define the extent to which the State of Utah, its political subdivisions and employees³ are immune from suit. Specifically, *sovereign immunity* is retained when the suit is for negligently caused injury arising out of the incarceration of any person. *See id.* § 63-30-10(10). Consequently, based upon decisional law such as *Madsen v. State*, 583 P.2d 92 (Utah 1978), the District Court dismissed Plaintiffs' *Complaint* because the claims asserted therein arose out of the incarceration of William Matthew Pace. Plaintiffs insist, however, that the District Court erred because Pace was merely a pretrial detainee and not incarcerated for the purposes of the immunity discussed in *Madsen*.

According to Plaintiffs, the statute does not contemplate pretrial detainment, but rather, only post sentencing confinement. Thus, Plaintiffs insist the District Court erred in finding St. George Defendants immune from suit under either the *UGIA* or *GIAU*. Again, Plaintiffs are without firm footing in the law. Both the *UGIA* and *GIAU* retain immunity

³ Immunity is extended to government employees, such as the individual Defendants pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* § 63-30-4(3) and (4).

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